1990

Janet R. Bowles v. Bevan C. Bowles : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

Jurisdiction of Court of Appeals

Jurisdiction is conferred on this Court as Appellate jurisdiction pursuant to §78-2a-3(2)(h), Utah Code Annotated (1987, as amended), (hereinafter U.C.A.).

Nature of Proceeding

This is an appeal in a domestic relations case from a final Court Order of the Fourth Judicial District Court in and for Utah County, State of Utah, which order denied Appellant Bevan Bowles' Petition for Modification of a Decree of Divorce.

Statement of Issues

The issues presented on appeal are as follows:

1. Whether the trial court erred in finding no change of circumstances based upon Mr. Bowles' involuntary lay off from his employment at Signetics Company in September, 1989.

2. Whether the trial court made sufficient or accurate findings of fact upon which to base its Order denying any adjustment to Mr. Bowles' level of child support.

3. Whether the Court erred in failing to consider the evidence presented by Mr. Bowles showing his efforts to find employment and in taking "judicial notice" of disputed factual matters outside of the record.

4. Whether the Court erred in its application of the child support guidelines at U.C.A. §78-45-7.5(7) where the Court imputed income to Mr. Bowles at the level of his most recent past employment from which he was involuntarily laid off rather than relying on Mr. Bowles' evidence of his actual earnings or his evidence of historical earnings.

Determinative Constitutional Provisions and Statutes

Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended at the following sections:

- a. §78-45-7 (Child Support Guidelines);
- b. §78-45-7.5 (Determination of Gross Income, Imputed Income);
- c. §30-3-5 (Continuing jurisdiction of the Court to modify support orders).

Statement of the Case

This an appeal from a final Court Order on a Petition for Modification in a domestic relations case issued by Judge Cullen Y. Christensen of the Fourth Judicial District Court in and for Utah County, State of Utah. The Defendant/Appellant Bevan Bowles had filed a Petition for Modification seeking to modify the parties' Decree of Divorce which was issued three years earlier. Mr. Bowles sought an adjustment to his child support obligation based on his involuntary lay off from employment, as well as a court review of issues of visitation and tax exemptions. A hearing was held on June 20, 1990, where only the parties were witnesses and the Court ruled that Mr. Bowles failed to show a substantial change in circumstances to support an adjustment to child support and had not made reasonable efforts to locate new employment. Mr. Bowles filed a Notice of Appeal dated August 2, 1990, the Docketing Statement was filed on August 24, 1990.

Statement of Facts

1. After a 13 year marriage, the parties to this action were divorced on July 6, 1987, and Respondent Janet Bowles was awarded custody of the parties two minor children age 12 and 14 at the time of the modification hearing. Mr. Bowles was ordered to pay child support in the amount of \$326 per child per month. (Record at 15; hereinafter R. 15).

2. Mr. Bowles' child support obligation was modified pursuant to a hearing and an Order dated February 27, 1989, where support was adjusted to the sum of \$272 per child per month from that day forward. (R. 53).

3. In August, 1989, Mr. Bowles was told by his employer Signetics Company that he would be laid off. He asked his ex-wife for a temporary, voluntary reduction in child support pending his finding new employment commensurate with the amount of unemployment compensation he would be receiving. Mrs. Bowles refused to make any voluntary adjustment to child support. (R. 56)

4. In September, 1989, Mr. Bowles filed a Petition for Modification of Decree of Divorce alleging a substantial change of circumstances based on his lay off from employment with Signetics Company effective September 29, 1989. (R. 56).

5. Mr. Bowles was employed by Signetics Company as a construction worker from November, 1983, until September, 1989, a total of approximately six years. (Transcript p. 6; hereinafter T. 6). Although Signetics is primarily a manufacturer of semiconductors it employed a staff of construction workers for plant remodeling. Mr. Bowles thus received above-average wages for construction work, year round employment and benefits--all exceptional attributes for construction work which is typically unstable, seasonal and without benefits. (T. 15).

6. At the time Mr. Bowles' was laid off he was earning a gross monthly salary of \$2,658 per month. (T. 7, Exhibit 1).

7. After his lay off Mr. Bowles began to receive unemployment compensation initially for a period of 26 weeks at the rate of \$208 per week, a total of \$894 gross per month. (T. 8).

8. At the time of his lay off Mr. Bowles met with the Office of Recovery Services to inform them of his changed situation and entered into a wage assignment agreement where that Office deducted one-half of every unemployment compensation check received by him which was paid to Respondent as child support, a total of \$412 per month. (T. 10, 63, Exhibit 1).

9. Prior to his employment at Signetics Mr. Bowles was self-employed in the excavation business where he owned a back hoe and would contract out his personal labor. Mr. Bowles earned his living in this manner for three years from 1981 through 1983. (T. 10, 11). Mr. Bowles testified from the parties' income tax returns as to his earnings for these three years which average \$738 per month. (Addendum - Chart 1) (T. 12-14).

10. Mr. Bowles testified that during the years 1981 through 1983 his family in fact received loans and gifts of money from their family as his earnings were inadequate to meet basic expenses. (T. 14).

11. At the time of his lay off, Mr. Bowles' educational credentials consist of a high school diploma and excavation license (T. 11).

12. Mr. Bowles testified that his salary at Signetics was the most he had ever earned as a construction worker and that his beginning wage was \$9 per hour when he was hired in November, 1983 and that his ending wage was \$13.42 per hour when he was laid off. (T. 14-15).

13. Mr. Bowles testified that his employment at Signetics was not typical of the construction industry overall as there he received a salary and benefits and worked 12 months a year whereas generally construction work is lower pay, sporadic, seasonal, and without employment benefits. (T. 15).

14. Mr. Bowles testified that he began seeking employment before his lay off in September and met all the requirements to receive unemployment compensation consisting of at least two job applications per week. (T. 16, 17).

15. Mr. Bowles searched for construction and excavation work and also applied for advertised jobs and those forwarded to him by Job Service. He testified that he looked in the Provo-Orem area as well as Salt Lake and St. George. He named at least six construction companies he had applied with in these areas as well

as efforts he made through friends in the construction industry to find available jobs. (T. 18).

16. In mid-December, 1989, Mr. Bowles determined he could not find employment in the construction industry and because the industry itself was unstable and seasonal, that he needed to consider job training which would allow him more stable and lucrative employment. (T. 19). He also testified that he had depleted his financial resources (retirement and IRA's) to keep current in his child support and make up the shortfall in his expenses (T. 23).

17. Mr. Bowles qualified for a State sponsored Job Training Program through Job Service as his work for Signetics was classified as an industry affected by foreign competition (semiconductors) which had caused his lay offs. The job retraining program requirements provided that unemployment compensation would be extended up to a year so long as the applicant maintained full-time student status of at least 12 hours. (T. 9, 20).

18. Mr. Bowles began attending Dixie College in January, 1990, and estimated he would complete a nursing or x-ray technician program by the Spring of 1993. (T. 21, 43). He has maintained at least 12 hours and a "B" average and testified he had approximately three hours of class daily and three hours per class hour of homework daily. (T. 59).

19. Since his lay off Mr. Bowles also obtained part-time employment at a convenience store earning approximately \$60 per week. (T. 21, 22). Thus, at the time of the hearing he was earning \$894 from unemployment compensation and \$260 from part-time work for a total of \$1,154 per month. The sum of \$412 per month of this total was being withheld as child support, leaving Mr. Bowles \$754 for his personal expenses. (T. 24-25).

20. Mr. Bowles testified to and filed a pre-trial settlement statement reporting his personal monthly expenses to be \$1,294 per month which increases to \$1,694 a month when child support of \$412 is added. (R. 88). Mr. Bowles testified that he had been able to maintain the expense shortfall by depleting his retirement and IRA accounts from his employer and at the time of hearing he had approximately \$400 left from those funds. (T. 23).

21. Janet Bowles testified that she had been working full-time for Alpine School District since 1985 and at the time of the hearing was earning \$7.47 per hour for a gross monthly income of \$1,284.85. (T. 60, 62).

22. Mrs. Bowles testified that she had remarried and her husband earned \$2,000 a month, that her household consisted of herself, her husband and her two children from her marriage to Mr. Bowles and that she had just purchased a new home and a car. (T. 63-66)

23. Mr. Bowles proffered a child support worksheet based on the income levels produced through discovery showing child support should be \$194 total per month and proposed to the Court that his support obligation be reduced to \$200 per month until he had graduated and was re-employed full-time. (Exhibit 8)

24. The trial court held that there had not been a substantial, material change of circumstances to justify any adjustment to child support. The Court also commented that it did not find that Mr. Bowles' job search efforts reasonable and that the Court was aware that a lot of construction was going on in St. George. (T. 86).

Summary of the Argument

1. The trial court failed to find a material change in circumstances to justify any adjustment to child support. Mr. Bowles had been involuntarily terminated from his employment and his income was reduced from \$2,658 per month to income at the time of trial from unemployment compensation and part-time work totalling \$1,154 per month. The Court's failure to find a substantial change of circumstances when the lay off was beyond the control of the individual and had resulted in a drastic, permanent loss of income is reversible error.

2. In light of the proven loss of income earning ability of Mr. Bowles', the Court erred in not considering his

changed ability to pay support and ordering a modification of support, as required by U.C.A. §78-45-7(2). Regardless of whether the Court was persuaded or not as to the reasonableness of Mr. Bowles' re-employment efforts, his lay off was involuntary and the Court had a duty to Order relief for some period of time or amount.

3. Utah law requires a trial court to make specific, detailed findings on all material issues. The trial court herein failed to make any findings as to Mr. Bowles' present income, his historical income, or as to why the Court felt his search for employment was not reasonable, in light of no contrary evidence.

4. The trial court erred in not considering Mr. Bowles' unrefuted testimony about the unavailability of employment after a three month job search. Further, it was improper for the Court to discount this testimony based on the Court's own personal opinion that construction work was available in another city where no evidence or testimony had been presented to that effect.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

The Court erred in not finding a material change in circumstances to justify an adjustment in child support.

Pursuant to Utah Code Annotated §30-3-5 (1989), a trial court has continuing jurisdiction to modify child support obligations and upon a request for such a modification a threshold

requirement for relief is to show a substantial change of circumstances occurring since entry of the Decree of Divorce and not contemplated in the Decree itself. Jense v. Jense, 124 Ut. Adv. Rep. 56 (Dec. 21, 1989, Ut. Ct. App.), Stettler v. Stettler, 713 P.2d 699, 701 (Utah 1985). For this Court to overturn the Trial Court's finding that there have been no changed circumstances, Mr. Bowles must show that "the evidence clearly preponderates against the findings or that the trial court has abused its discretion." Thompson v. Thompson, 709 P.2d 360 (Utah 1985), and Porco v. Porco, 752 P.2d 365 (Ut. Ct. App. 1988).

The Trial Court herein erred in not finding a material change of circumstances due to Mr. Bowles' unexpected termination of employment from Signetics Company. Although acknowledging that Mr. Bowles was the victim of an involuntary lay off and was unemployed, the Court still found that there was no material change in circumstances to justify a reduction in child support. (T. 88). The undisputed facts in this case are that Mr. Bowles was involuntarily laid off from his employment of six years with Signetics Company. Without question, the involuntary loss of employment must be found to be a substantial change in circumstances sufficient for the Court to review and adjust child support. At the very least the Court should suspend present payment of support pending re-employment or adjust the present

payment to conform to the parties' current income. To make no finding that circumstances have even changed is error and an abuse of discretion. That has been the holding in many cases before this Court. In the case of Christiansen v. Christiansen, 667 P.2d 592 (Utah 1983), the Court held that in a determination of a change of circumstances justifying support modification, it is proper to consider changes in the parent's ability to pay support. Similarly, in the case of Reick v. Reick, 652 P.2d 916 (Utah 1982), the Court affirmed that changes in the parties' incomes can constitute a material change of circumstances justifying modification of child support obligations. See also, Maughn v. Maughn, 770 P.2d 156 (Ut. Ct. App. 1989).

In review of this record, this Court must find that the Trial Court's finding of no change of circumstances is in fact clearly erroneous and reverse this finding. Mr. Bowles' lay off was a fact clearly beyond his control or ability to influence. It is manifest injustice not to find that this lay off was a sudden, adverse and material change in his circumstances that directly affected his ability to pay child support and justify relief from the ongoing support order. Regardless of whether the Trial Court was persuaded as to the reasonableness of Mr. Bowles' job search efforts after his termination, there can be no question but that

the termination itself constituted a substantial change of circumstances and the Court erred in not making this finding.

A. The Court failed to consider and make findings upon the ability of Mr. Bowles to pay support.

Once a substantial change of circumstances is established, the Court's next step must be a review of legal factors and the situation of the parties, to determine whether an adjustment to support is required.

Utah Code Annotated at §78-45-7(2) provides that once a material change in circumstances has occurred, the Court must consider all relevant factors to determine the amount of prospective support including but not limited to:

"(a) The standard of living and situation of the parties;

(b) The relative wealth and income of the parties;

(c) The ability of the obligor to earn;

(d) The ability of the obligee to earn;

(e) The need of the obligee;

(f) The age of the parties;

(g) The responsibility of the obligor for the support of others."

The Court of Appeals has held that a consideration of these factors constitute "material issues upon which the trial court must enter findings of fact". Jefferies v. Jefferies, 752 P.2d 909, 911 (Ut

Ct. App. 1988), Durfee v. Durfee, 140 Ut. Adv. Rpts. 42 (August 9, 1990; Ct. App.). This Court has often reversed decisions where the trial Court has failed to make detailed findings of fact and conclusions of law necessary for consideration by a reviewing court. Stephens v. Stephens, 754 P.2d 1952 (Ut. Ct. App. 1988).

In the present case, no findings were made by Judge Christensen in this case on the ability of Mr Bowles to pay the former child support amount of \$427 a month in his unemployed condition of reduced income. The Court gave no consideration to the changes in Mr. Bowles' income from \$2,658 gross per month with Signetics to the level he was earning at the time of the hearing from unemployment compensation of \$864 gross per month, plus part-time earnings of \$260 for a total of \$1,124 gross per month. From this, \$412 was automatically withheld for on-going support leaving him with \$724 for his own expenses. The Court also gave no consideration to the fact that Mr. Bowles had expended all available financial resources consisting of his retirement distribution and IRA funds to satisfy his Court ordered obligations and expenses leaving him only with earned income to pay ongoing child support. Additionally, the Court ignored the facts that Mr. Bowles was current in support until his lay off and that no hardship situation existed with Mrs. Bowles who had a household income of \$3,284 gross per month for a family of four which does

not even include child support of \$412 per month she also receives. Failure to review these factors and adjust support accordingly is reversible error and this Court should so find.

POINT II

The Trial Court erred in application of the child support guidelines and imputed income rules.

By making no adjustment to child support and finding no changed circumstances, the Trial Court implicitly held that Mr. Bowles had an imputed income at his former salary level of \$2,658 per month.

The Trial Court made confusing, and inaccurate findings on Mr. Bowles' historical income and what should possibly be his imputed income in this case. Although these matters were discussed, the Court in fact made no specific findings on Mr. Bowles' actual, historical or imputed income which Mr. Bowles submits is reversible error. Moreover, it was error to even consider imputing income when evidence of actual income was unrefuted and accurate.

Mr. Bowles presented evidence at trial that prior to his six years of employment with Signetics his only previous earnings had been from the construction industry where he earned substantially less than his employment with Signetics. Mr. Bowles testified that Signetics was a unique and superior construction job

as it was primarily a manufacturer of semiconductors with only secondary and limited construction needs. It was thus a major employer which provided full benefits, full-time employment and excellent wages, whereas typical construction work in his experience lasted from six to eight months in a given year, was sporadic, seasonal, not as well paid and provided no job benefits. (T. 15). Having no future employment prospects with Signetics, the Court can only consider Mr. Bowles' historic earnings in usual construction work before Signetics, or prevailing community standards as a relevant basis for imputing income under U.C.A. §78-45-7.5(7).

Mr. Bowles testified that prior to Signetics he was self-employed in excavation work for three years from 1981 through 1983. The tax returns from those years were introduced as Exhibit 2 and in Addendum Chart 1 to this brief, Mr. Bowles has set forth the relevant income data from those tax returns. That Chart shows the gross receipts from each year, less business expenses with the adjustment that any depreciation has been added back in as a non-cash expense which is not usually deducted for child support purposes. The three years outlined confirmed Mr. Bowles' testimony that typically the construction business is sporadic and unpredictable as his first year in business he had a net profit of \$3,684, his second year it was \$20,054 and his third year it was

\$2,846. A summary of these three years shows average annual income of \$8,861, with an average monthly income of \$738. Mr. Bowles also testified that prevailing wage rates for construction jobs he had been seeking were \$8 to \$10 per hour, again with the prospect of only work 6 to 8 months a year. (T.54,15). This evidence was unchallenged and was available to the Court in considering Mr. Bowles' historical earnings and the imputed income issue.

In reviewing this evidence the Court stated that the only year in which the Mr. Bowles made substantial income from his excavation work was 1982 where he earned about \$1,400 a month. The Court ignores the other years and makes no conclusion from this evidence as to what Mr. Bowles historical earnings were from his construction work. The Court's "finding" on this matter is clearly wrong and is refuted on the record where the tax returns prove that Mr. Bowles' historical earnings from self-employed construction/excavation work was an average of \$738 per month over that three year period.

At the time of hearing, Mrs. Bowles made the argument that Mr. Bowles still owned his back hoe and could be using that to supplement his income. The Court also comments on this and states that the Court felt that \$1,200 per month could be generated from the leasing of that machine. This statement is derived only from Mrs. Bowles' testimony that she knew someone who would lease the

machine for \$20/hour but had never informed Mr. Bowles of this offer. (T. 46, 72, 73). Mr. Bowles also testified he had a brother-in-law in the excavation business who did not feel leasing the equipment in the St. George area was viable. (T. 58). Also, Mr. Bowles testified he had no time to operate the machine while he worked for Signetics or attended school and that it was to be sold by Court Order in November, 1990. (T. 55-58). Again, however, the Court makes no conclusion or actual "finding" from this comment as to whether that level of income should be imputed to Mr. Bowles for child support purposes.

Notwithstanding this argument, the earning potential from the back hoe is irrelevant as the parties' Decree of Divorce, as modified, ordered that it be sold by November, 1990, and the proceeds divided equally between the parties. (R. 54) (T. 55,57). This sale has been completed and the back hoe is no longer available for use by either party.

POINT III

The Court erred in failing to consider Appellant's evidence of his efforts to find employment and in erroneously taking judicial notice of disputed facts outside the record.

Mr. Bowles testified that he was first aware that he would be laid off in August, 1989, and that he began his job search at that time. (T. 17). His search began with Job Service where he obtained unemployment compensation benefits and was required to

make two job contacts a week for the first 26 weeks of his benefits. Mr. Bowles testified that he met all the requirements for those benefits which calculates to 52 job inquiries over that period. Mr. Bowles testified that he looked for work through December and concentrated on the construction industry in the Provo-Orem area, in Salt Lake and also St. George. He specifically named six employers among others, namely: Thorne Construction, Kurt Restoration, B&B Foundation, Lloyd Tibbets Construction, Mike Gunn Construction, and Park's Construction with whom he actually made applications based on job prospects. (T. 18 and 40). Mr. Bowles regularly checked advertisements and the Job Service board as well as applying for available positions forwarded to him by Job Service, as well as personally networking among his contacts in the construction industry. (T. 15-18). He testified that at best he could only find part-time work and that he was in fact working part-time at the time of the hearing as a convenience store clerk.

There was no evidence presented by Janet Bowles to contradict Mr. Bowles' testimony about the unavailability of full-time employment in construction and his testimony is unrefuted. Admittedly, the fall and winter are probably the slow season for construction employment, but Mr. Bowles had no control over when he would be laid off. Mr. Bowles also had no financial resources to draw upon for a prolonged job search. He testified his personal

expenses were \$1,200 plus \$412 in support on an income of \$1,124. Mrs. Bowles had also refused his offer to temporarily adjust support until he was re-employed. The question thus becomes in these circumstances how long is it reasonable for Mr. Bowles to have waited to find construction employment? Mr. Bowles had to make a decision and determined that he could not survive financially through a prolonged period of unemployment and that prospects in the construction industry even if he found work were likely to remain unstable with sporadic work. Mr. Bowles submits it was not unreasonable to take advantage of a unique job retraining opportunity to learn basic new skills in a profession with long term stability and overall better benefits and pay. Importantly, the job training also promised a continued income to Mr. Bowles for at least a year so reasonable child support could still be paid. Eventually, Mrs. Bowles and the parties' two children will also benefit from Mr. Bowles' retraining and the permanent career change with higher future child support.

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