1990

# Janet R. Bowles v. Bevan C. Bowles : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. The petitioner for modification of Decree of Divorce has the burden of submitting credible evidence to the trial court that there has been a material change in circumstances sufficient to warrant the modification requested. The court is required to view the evidence of each changed circumstance in light of all the facts and circumstances of the case in making its determination of whether the evidence submitted meets the threshold requirement. Loss of job and proof of reduced income do not automatically require the trial court to find that a material change in circumstance has occurred when evidence of other important factors such as job seeking efforts and asset utilization efforts establish that the petitioner's reduced income status is the result of an exercise of personal preference to be a full-time student rather than a full-time earner.

2. If the party petitioning the court for a modification of child support fails to convince the court that a material change in circumstance has occurred to warrant such a change, the court is



not required to make findings of fact concerning the petitioner's ability to pay child support. An order requiring the petitioner to pay child support is already in effect and based upon the petitioner's ability to pay. The trial court need not reexamine these issues because the petitioner has failed to produce the requisite evidence that would allow the court to make the requested modification.

3. A finding that there has been no material change in circumstances sufficient to warrant a modification in a child support award is not an imputation of income to the petitioner. Neither the court's findings nor anything in the trial transcript indicates or implies that the court has imputed income to the appellant, but rather, refuses to impute a lower income to the appellant because of his loss of job. Therefore, the court neither erred nor abused its discretion.

4. The trial court considered all of the appellants job search efforts as part of the facts and circumstances to determine whether appellant's reduced income status warranted a finding that a substantial change in circumstance had occurred. The trial court also considered the appellant's testimony concerning the number of construction companies operating in the St. George area and appellant's testimony that he did not inquire after employment with those companies in the aforesaid determination. The trial court

did not take judicial notice of the availability of employment in the St. George area but only accepted appellant's testimony concerning this factor. Considering appellant's job search efforts and potential employment opportunities were well within the court's proper evaluation of the case and not error.

### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

Proof of reduced income does not automatically require the trial court to find that a material change in circumstances has occurred sufficient to warrant modification of a decree of divorce.

A party seeking to have a decree of divorce modified must assert and prove that there has been a substantial change in circumstances occurring since the entry of the decree of divorce. (Jense v. Jense, 124 Ut. Adv. Rep. 56 (December 21, 1989) Ut. Ct. App.). In the present case, the appellant claims that because he lost his job and remains unemployed or underemployed, that the trial court was required to find that a substantial change of circumstance existed sufficient to warrant lowering his child support obligation. But the trial court isn't required to view appellant's evidence in a vacuum. "Indeed, Section 78-45-7(2) lists a parent's income and ability to earn as two separate, presumably distinct, factors to be considered by the court as it sets the amount of child support." Proctor v. Proctor, 773 P.2d 1389 (Utah App. 1989). Therefore, the trial court in this case was

required to consider not only appellant's present lack of income but also his earning capacity as well.

The evidence established that Mr. Bowles income was quite low because he lost his job, now worked only part-time at a minimum wage occupation, and attended college on a full-time basis. The evidence also established that Mr. Bowles had not made any effort during the past 7 months to obtain full-time employment in the construction trades despite his knowledge that there many construction companies in the St. George area using backhoe equipment and the fact that Mr. Bowles was licensed as an excavator. Furthermore, the evidence before the trial court established that Mr. Bowles owned a backhoe that could be used for earning income of at least \$20.00 per hour for 20 to 30 hours per week, either by self operation or by leasing, but that Mr. Bowles had made no effort to utilize the backhoe.

The evidence before the court showed that although Mr. Bowles may have had diminished income, he had ample opportunity to earn but failed to make a good faith effort to utilize those opportunities. This Court has previously stated "that an able bodied person who stops working, as an exercise of personal preference . . ., nonetheless retains the ability to earn and the duty to support his or her children." Proctor v. Proctor, Ibid at 1391. The appellant may not have quit his job, but his decision to

attend college rather than seek to earn income at his full potential is such an exercise of personal preference.

The trial court weighed all of the evidence before it and determined that Mr. Bowles had failed to meet the threshold requirement that a substantial change in circumstances had occurred to his earning capacity, not merely to his income.

#### POINT II

The trial court is not required to make findings of fact concerning appellant's income if the court finds that no substantial change in circumstance has occurred.

Mr. Bowles argues that the trial court erred in not making findings of fact concerning his ability to pay child support. But findings of fact regarding ability to pay are not necessary when the court finds that no substantial change of circumstance has occurred. (Christiansen v. Christiansen, 667 P.2d 592, 595 (Utah 1983)). If the party seeking modification fails to convince the trial court of this threshold requirement, then the trial court does not need to examine the other factors set forth in Utah Code Annotated 78-45-7(2). Ostler v. Ostler, 789 P.2d 713, 715 (Utah 1990).

Although the trial court found that appellant's lay off was a substantial change in his employment circumstance, it did not find a substantial change had occurred in his earning ability. Rather, it found Mr. Bowles to have made inadequate effort at gaining

employment or exercising his earning capacity either by searching for work or utilizing the backhoe. "And for that reason, the court does not believe that I can legitimately find a material change in circumstances that would justify the court in reducing the obligation for child support at this time." (T. 88 at lines 18 through 21). Therefore, it was the trial court's opinion that the threshold requirement was not established by appellant and it became necessary only to find that the change of circumstance did not warrant modification. (Christiansen v. Christiansen, 667 P.2d 592, 595 (Utah 1983)).

### POINT III

The trial court did not impute income to appellant.

Appellant's argument that the trial court erred in its application of child support guidelines and the imputed income statute is based upon two incorrect premises. First, the trial court did not impute income to appellant. By finding that the changed circumstances were insufficient to warrant a modification in the child support award, the trial court had no need to impute income to Mr. Bowles. It did not impute any amount of income to Mr. Bowles nor apply the child support guidelines in this matter.

Second, appellant is incorrect in his assertion that by finding that no substantial change of circumstance existed to justify modifying the child support award the court implies an

imputation of income at Mr. Bowles former level. The trial court was well aware that Mr. Bowles income was greatly reduced. It also had sufficient evidence to support a finding that Mr. Bowles had more earning capability than his present low income proved.

The trial court advised Mr. Bowles that lack of effort to earn would not be rewarded with a reduction in child support but that the evidence presented to the court was insufficient to determine what lower amount of income could be imputed to him. If Mr. Bowles had made effort to gain full-time employment in construction in the area he had been living for six months prior to trial, the trial court would have had evidence of what pay rate, number of hours, etc. were available to him. If Mr. Bowles had made efforts to hire out the backhoe, an hourly rate and number of hours per month of income from this source would have been available for the court to use to either determine or impute income to Mr. Bowles. By voluntarily remaining underemployed and not utilizing the backhoe to earn income, the appellant disallowed the court from imputing any lower income to him.

The trial court only ruled that until appellant submitted adequate evidence of a good faith effort to earn income at his potential, that the court was not justified in finding the requisite change of circumstances to warrant reducing the child support award.

#### POINT IV

The trial court neither erred in considering appellant's job search efforts nor took judicial notice of factors outside of the record.

Appellant's brief suggests that he made job inquiries for a period of 26 weeks and made 52 such inquiries. The trial transcript does not support those suggestions. Mr. Bowles made only two job applications per week during the month prior to beginning school. (T. 16). He made those job applications in November and December of 1989 and terminated his job searching by the middle of December, 1989. (T. 17, 18). He testified of six employers he applied to and further testified that there were two or three other employers whose names he couldn't remember with whom he'd made application. (T. 18). After mid-December, he did no more than look on the job board in St. George and he made no application and had no interviews there because he was too busy with school. (T. 41).

The trial court was fully aware of Mr. Bowles efforts to find employment. It remarked on his efforts to get employment (T. 86), its lack of satisfaction at those efforts (T. 87), and its finding that it didn't think he was making a legitimate effort to obtain employment (T. 88). The trial court considered this limited effort to find full-time work, the seven month hiatus in meaningful job search activity and the factors of full-time schooling and part-

time work to be unsupportive of appellant's position that no employment beyond part-time minimum wage jobs existed for him.

Mr. Bowles also asserts that the trial court took judicial notice of possible employment available in St. George. The court did not take judicial notice of this fact but accepted it based on appellant's own testimony. During the course of trial the trial judge asked Mr. Bowles, "What work might be available in St. George for a backhoe?" (T. 58 at lines 14-15). Mr. Bowles answered, "There is a lot of construction companies down there with equipment like that. I haven't really checked into it." (T. 58, at lines 16 through 18).

From this exchange, the trial judge found that Mr. Bowles "checked the board a couple of times in St. George. By his own testimony, it appears to the court that that is a moving construction area." (T. 86 at lines 21 through 24). The trial court did not take judicial notice of the status of the construction industry in St. George but based its opinion on Mr. Bowles testimony. Therefore, there was neither error or abuse of discretion made by the trial court.

#### CONCLUSION

Appellant had the burden, as the petitioner for modification, to present the trial court with sufficient evidence to support a finding that a substantial change of circumstance had occurred with



respect to the child support issue so as to allow the trial court to consider such a change. Although appellant provided the trial court with evidence of his diminished income, the trial court concluded that his insufficient efforts to obtain full-time employment or earn income from his backhoe did not justify a finding that appellant had met the threshold requirement for obtaining modification of a decree of divorce.

Each of the appellant's arguments derive from his belief that the trial court erred in not finding that his loss of employment alone met this threshold requirement. Each of his arguments fails because the trial court correctly considered all of the evidence before it in determining that appellant had not shown sufficient change of circumstances to warrant modification.

Appellee, therefore, respectfully submits that the lower court's ruling should be upheld.